IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN M. GOUTY,

Petitioner/Plaintiff,

CASE NO.: SC00-1853

Lower Tribunal No.: 1D99-1337

vs.

J. ALAN SCHNEPEL,

Respondent/Defendant.

\_\_\_\_\_ /

**AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

ALLEN, BRINTON & MCCARTHY, P.A.

Edward McCarthy, III  
Florida Bar No.: 866873  
One Independent Drive, Suite 3200  
Jacksonville, Florida 32202  
(904) 353-8800 (phone)  
(904) 353-8770 (fax)

Attorney for Petitioner/Plaintiff

## INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner/Plaintiff, John M. Gouty, will be referenced as "Gouty" and the respondent/defendant, J. Alan Schnepel, will be referenced as "Schnepel." The settling defendant, Glock, Inc., will be referenced as "Glock." The record on appeal will be referenced as ("R.\_\_"), followed by volume number and page number. The First District Court of Appeal Opinion, J. Alan Schnepel v. John M. Gouty, 25 Fla. Law Weekly D2109 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1999), from which this appeal is taken is attached hereto as the Appendix and will be referenced as ("Schnepel, at App.\_\_"), followed by Appendix page number.

**CERTIFIED QUESTION**

WHERE THE PLAINTIFF HAS DELIVERED A WRITTEN RELEASE OR COVENANT NOT TO SUE TO A SETTLING DEFENDANT ALLEGEDLY JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY LIABLE FOR ECONOMIC DAMAGES, SHOULD THE SETTLEMENT PROCEEDS APPORTIONABLE TO ECONOMIC DAMAGES BE SET OFF AGAINST ANY AWARD FOR ECONOMIC DAMAGES EVEN IF THE SETTLING DEFENDANT IS NOT FOUND LIABLE?

(Schnepel, at App. 2)



**STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS**

There is no conflict as to the material facts of this case. Schnepel negligently discharged a Glock firearm causing injury to Gouty. Gouty filed a complaint alleging that Schnepel was negligent and that the gun and its case, manufactured and distributed by Glock, were defective. (R:1-01). Glock denied liability. (R:1-8). Prior to trial, Gouty settled with Glock for \$137,500.00 and executed a release and settlement agreement in favor of Glock (R:2-259). In the release and settlement agreement, Glock expressly denied liability for the accident (R:2-259). Schnepel was not a party to the negotiations, the settlement or the release (R:2-259). In the pretrial stipulation, Schnepel admitted liability and conceded that Gouty had no fault. (R:1-119). Schnepel contended, however, that Glock was also liable for Gouty's injury. Gouty proceeded to trial against Schnepel. Pursuant to § 768.81, Florida Statutes, both Schnepel and Glock were placed on the verdict form (R:1-179). The jury found Schnepel 100% liable and assessed damages in the total amount of \$250,000, 50% of which were determined to be non-economic damages (R:1-180). The jury found that Glock was not negligent and did not legally cause any of the injuries or damages Gouty sued for. (R:1-179).

The trial court denied (1) Schnepel's pretrial motion in

limine seeking to estop Gouty from denying Glock was liable for Gouty's injuries (R:1-142); (2) Schnepel's post-trial motion for new trial on the same ground (R:1-190); and (3) Schnepel's motion for setoff in the amount of 50% of the Glock settlement. (R:1-199).

Schnepel appealed these three rulings to the First District Court of Appeals (R:2-265). Because a trial transcript was not provided, the First DCA unanimously affirmed the lower court's rulings concerning estoppel without addressing the merits of the argument. (Schnepel, at App. 2). On a split decision, with Judge Van Nortwick dissenting, the First DCA reversed the trial court's denial of setoff but certified the following question of great public importance:

WHERE THE PLAINTIFF HAS DELIVERED A WRITTEN RELEASE OR COVENANT NOT TO SUE TO A SETTLING DEFENDANT ALLEGEDLY JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY LIABLE FOR ECONOMIC DAMAGES, SHOULD THE SETTLEMENT PROCEEDS APPORTIONABLE TO ECONOMIC DAMAGES BE SET OFF AGAINST ANY AWARD FOR ECONOMIC DAMAGES EVEN IF THE SETTLING DEFENDANT IS NOT FOUND LIABLE?

(Schnepel at App. 2)

This Petition for Certiorari followed.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The purpose of Section 768.81(3), Florida Statutes, is to protect the tortfeasor from paying for more than his share of the damages by requiring judgment to be entered on the basis of fault. In this case, that purpose was met: the jury found Schnepel 100% at fault, precluding joint and several liability under § 768.81(3) (Florida's Tort Reform Act), and the trial court entered judgment against Schnepel for 100% of the damages because the setoff statutes do not apply in the absence of joint liability. Therefore, the certified question should be answered in the negative and the trial court's ruling reinstated.

Florida disfavors joint and several liability to such a degree that the legislature has abrogated joint and several liability except where expressly retained by § 768.81. The three exceptions enumerated in the statute are: (1) when the damages do not exceed \$25,000, (2) when the tort is determined to be intentional or involve pollution or other specific tort, and (3) when the party's fault equals or exceeds that of the plaintiff. These exceptions do not apply here. In the majority opinion, Judges Browning and Benton contradict the clear terms of § 768.81 and the rulings of this court by looking to the setoff statutes to judicially create a fourth exception; that is, if a release is given to one of multiple defendants, the execution of that

release automatically creates joint and several liability.

However, the three setoff statutes presuppose the existence of joint liability among multiple defendants and, as such, cannot logically be read to create such liability. As Judge Van Nortwick stated in his dissent, it is the actual "existence," not the mere allegation, of joint and several liability that is the foundation for application of the setoff.

Under § 768.81, it is the finder of fact who determines the existence of joint and several liability. If, as in this case, the jury determines that joint and several liability does not exist, then the setoff statutes cannot apply. This view has been followed by the overwhelming majority of jurisdictions that, like Florida, have adopted comparative fault and modified or abolished joint and several liability and have addressed this issue.

Under this scenario, it is clear that one party must benefit from the settlement with Glock. If Schnepel receives the benefit, then Schnepel would pay less than his share of the damages as determined by the jury. Such a result is contrary to the express intent of § 768.81(3), Florida Statutes (1997). The equitable dimension of this issue requires the court to determine who is entitled to the benefit: the defendant who was found to be 100% at fault and now seeks to pay less than his share of the damages; or the injured plaintiff, who had no fault in the matter, but was able to resolve his potential claims against

Glock without the necessity of trial.

Finally, requiring a setoff under these circumstances is contrary to the stated policy underlying § 768.81 and the setoff statutes. The effect of such a holding would be to discourage plaintiffs from partially settling cases with less than all of several defendants who have potential joint and several liability, and to encourage intransigent defendants not to settle, in contradiction to Florida's public policy encouraging settlement.

ARGUMENT

THE PURPOSE OF SECTION 768.81(3), FLORIDA STATUTES, IS TO PROTECT THE TORTFEASOR FROM PAYING MORE THAN HIS SHARE OF THE DAMAGES BY REQUIRING JUDGMENT TO BE ENTERED ON THE BASIS OF FAULT. IN THIS CASE, THAT PURPOSE WAS MET: THE JURY FOUND SCHNEPEL 100% AT FAULT, PRECLUDING JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY UNDER SECTION 768.81(3), AND THE TRIAL COURT ENTERED JUDGMENT AGAINST SCHNEPEL FOR 100% OF THE DAMAGES BECAUSE THE SETOFF STATUTES DO NOT APPLY IN THE ABSENCE OF JOINT LIABILITY. THEREFORE, JUDGE VAN NORTWICK'S DISSENTING OPINION SHOULD BE ADOPTED, THE CERTIFIED QUESTION SHOULD BE ANSWERED IN THE NEGATIVE, AND THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING SHOULD BE REINSTATED.

A. FLORIDA'S TORT REFORM ACT, SECTION 768.81, ABROGATED JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY FOR NON-ECONOMIC AND ECONOMIC DAMAGES, EXCEPT WHERE EXPRESSLY RETAINED UNDER SECTION 768.81(3), (4), AND (5), WHICH EXCEPTIONS DO NOT APPLY HERE. IN THE ABSENCE OF JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY, THE SETOFF STATUTES DO NOT APPLY.

The legislature's enactment of § 768.81 abrogated joint and several liability for non-economic and economic damages except in "those limited situations set forth in §§ 768.81(3), (4), and (5), Florida Statutes (1989)." Conley v. Boyle Drug Co., 577

So.2d 275, 285 (Fla. 1990). Florida's Tort Reform Act "disfavors joint and several liability to such a degree that it survives only in those limited situations where it is expressly retained." Fabre v. Marin, 623 So.2d 1182 at 1185 (Fla. 1993) (emphasis supplied);

In Conley, this court set forth the three exceptions to Florida's abrogation of joint and several liability:

Under §§ 768.81(3), (4), and (5), joint and several liability is abrogated except:

1) in the case of economic damages 'with respect to any party whose percentage of fault equals or exceeds that of a particular claimant';

2) in 'any action brought by any person to recover actual economic damages resulting from pollution, to any action based upon an intentional tort, or to any cause of action as to which application of the doctrine of joint and several liability is specifically provided by Chapter 403 [Pollution Control], Chapter 498 [Land Sale Practices], Chapter 571 [Security Transactions], Chapter 542 [Anti-trust], or Chapter 895 [the RICO Act]'; and

3) as 'to all actions in which the total amount of damages does not exceed \$25,000.'

Id.

If, as here, the case does not fall within these three exceptions, then no joint and several liability can exist for non-economic or economic damages. Id.; Metropolitan Dade County v. Frederic, 698 So.2d 29 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1997). In Frederic, the plaintiff sued the County and Metro Limo, Inc. for wrongful death damages arising from an automobile accident. Metro Limo, Inc.

settled with the plaintiff prior to trial and the jury awarded the plaintiff damages, finding the County 17.5% at fault and Frederic 55% at fault for failure to use a seatbelt (although not specifically stated, the additional 28.5% of fault was apparently attributed to Metro Limo). The court noted that Florida law only permits joint and several liability under the limited circumstances set forth by § 768.81(3), (4), and (5), and found that the County had no joint and several liability for either economic damages (because his percentage of fault was less than the plaintiff's) or non-economic damages (because the total amount of damages exceeded \$25,000). As a consequence, the court held that "the County is not jointly and severally liable for economic or non-economic damages, hence it is not entitled to a setoff for the [Metro Limo] settlement." 698 So.2d at 292 (emphasis in original).

At the lower court, Schnepel convinced Judges Browning and Benton to ignore the legislative intent, the language of § 768.81, and this court's interpretation of § 768.81 and to judicially create a fourth exception to the abrogation of joint and several liability via the setoff statutes; that is, if plaintiff executes a release in favor of one of multiple defendants, the fact of settlement automatically creates joint and several liability for economic damages. Such a holding contradicts the express terms of § 768.81 and the Wells v.



Tallahassee Memorial Regional Medical Center, Inc., 659 So.2d 249 (Fla. 1995), Conley, and Frederic opinions.<sup>1</sup>

Prior to § 768.81, and the Fabre, Conley, and Wells decisions, joint and several liability existed for all claims under Florida law. There was no mechanism for settling defendants and other non-parties to appear on a verdict form, and there was no judicially approved method for apportionment of settlement. Fabre, supra at 1185. The setoff statutes on which Schnepel relies, §§ 46.015, 768.041 and 768.31(5), were drafted in this light:

the setoff provisions, which were enacted before § 768.81, presuppose the existence of multiple defendants jointly liable for the same damages.

Wells, supra at 252-253 (emphasis supplied).

"Presuppose" is defined by Webster's Tenth Edition (1993) as: "to require as an antecedent in logic or fact." If the setoff statutes "presuppose" the existence of joint and several liability, then by definition they cannot create joint and several liability, as proposed by Schnepel and the majority opinion in the lower court. The existence of joint and several

---

<sup>1</sup>In fact, the majority holding from the lower court directly conflicts with Frederic, supra. According to the lower court's majority opinion, when a settlement and release is provided by one of multiple defendants, then joint and several liability is automatically established. (Schnepel, at App. 11). If the jury then determines that the non-settling defendant's negligence is less than that of the claimant, according to the lower court's majority opinion there still would be a setoff for the economic damages, in direct contradiction to § 768.81(3) and the holding of Frederic.

liability must therefore be established by admission, or at trial, in order to apply the setoff statutes. Wells, supra; Frederic, supra. This is true for both non-economic and economic damages. Here, joint and several liability was not established by admission. Glock denied liability in the pleadings (R:1-8) and release (R:2-259), and Florida courts have repeatedly ruled that a settlement and release fall short of being a factual determination, either by admission or otherwise. Gilbert v. Florida Birth-related Neurological Injury Compensation Ass'n, 724 So.2d 688 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999); Martin County v. Mobil Corporation, 513 So.2d 243 at 244 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1987) ("settlements ... have never been considered admissions against interest binding on the parties making them.")

In his dissenting opinion, Judge Van Nortwick correctly points out this fallacy of the majority's rationale: "under Wells it is the actual 'existence,' not the mere allegation, of joint and several liability that is the foundation of the application of the setoff statutes." (Schnepel, at App. 14-15). Simply put, the setoff statutes cannot, by independent operation, create joint and several liability.

The language of the setoff statutes support this conclusion. Section 46.015 refers to a written covenant not to sue, or release of, a "person who is or may be jointly and severally liable with other persons for a claim." (Emphasis supplied).

Section 768.041 states that a release or covenant not to sue "as to one tortfeasor for property damage to, personal injury of, or the wrongful death of any person shall not operate to release or discharge the liability of any other tortfeasor who may be liable for the same tort or death." (Emphasis supplied).<sup>2</sup> Section 768.31 refers to a release or covenant not to sue given to "one of two or more persons liable in tort for the same injury or the same wrongful death ...." (Emphasis supplied).

This is true even if the damages involved are economic damages. Contrary to Schnepel's position, the Wells court held that joint and several liability continues only for economic damages that are subject to joint and several liability, not for all economic damages:

"....setoffs are only applicable to economic damages where the parties are "subject to joint and several liability."

Frederic, supra at 292, citing Wells.

In other words, Wells held that while multiple defendants can never be found jointly and severally liable for non-economic damages (unless total damages do not exceed \$25,000), joint and

---

<sup>2</sup>In fact, in Devino v. McMannis, 231 So.2d 194 at 196 (Fla. 1970), this Court held that Section 768.041 "authorized to be setoff from a judgment against one joint tortfeasor only the amount constituting a settlement for the damages or damage elements recoverable in the same course of action against another joint tortfeasor." (Emphasis supplied).

several liability for economic damages remains a possibility if joint and several liability is found to exist between the settling and non-settling defendants. Id; Wells supra. Pursuant to §768.81, Wells, Conley, and Frederic, if joint and several liability is not found to exist under §768.81, then no setoff is allowed for economic damages.

Moreover, under Sections 768.81(3) and (5) and Wells, the existence of joint and several liability can only be determined by the fact finder; in other words, it is the jury that decides what damages, if any, are in partial satisfaction of the damages sued for and thus whether the setoff statutes apply:

(1) If the jury finds 100% of the damages are non-economic, then there is no joint and several liability and no setoff because the settlement does not include any damages in partial satisfaction of the damages that the remaining defendant was sued for. 768.81(3), Florida Statutes. Wells, supra.

(2) If the jury finds that the defendant is less at fault than the plaintiff, then there is no joint and several liability for non-economic or economic damages and no setoff because the settlement was not for damages in partial satisfaction of the damages that the remaining defendant was sued for. § 768.81(3), Florida Statutes; Metropolitan Dade

County, supra.

(3) If the jury finds that the total damages do not exceed \$25,000 then joint and several liability exists for economic and non-economic damages and the setoff statutes apply because the settlement dollars are then considered in partial satisfaction of damages sued for. § 768.81(5), Fla. Stat.; see Metropolitan Dade County, supra.

(4) If the jury finds that the non-settling tortfeasor is 100% liable then, by definition, there exists no joint and several liability and thus no setoff because no settlement dollars can be considered in partial satisfaction of damages that, in this case, Schnepel was sued for. 768.81(3), Fla. Stat;<sup>3</sup> see Shufflebarger v. Galloway, 688 So.2d 996 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995).

In fact, as recently as last year, this Court held that it was the jury, not the settlement or release, that determined whether settling and non-settling parties are joint tortfeasors:

---

<sup>3</sup>In the court below, the majority misinterprets subsection (2) of §§ 46.015 and 768.041: Subsection 2 of both statutes sets forth (with brackets reflecting 46.015(2) language not in § 768.041(2)): "at trial, if any [person] defendant shows the court that the plaintiff, ... has delivered a [written] release or covenant not to sue to any person ... in partial satisfaction of the damages sued for, the court shall setoff this amount from any judgment to which the plaintiff would be otherwise entitled at the time of rendering judgment ..." (Emphasis supplied). Because defendant Schnepel was found 100% liable, he is not jointly liable with Glock and thus has failed to show the court that Glock's settlement dollars were in partial satisfaction of damages that Schnepel was sued for.

"... because Dade County School Board was 100% liable for the injuries to the spectators, the parties were not joint tortfeasors; therefore contribution is not an available option." Dade County School Board v. Radio Station WOBA, 731 So.2d 638, at fn1 (Fla. 1999); also see MacKenzie Tank Lines, Inc. v. Empire Gas Corporation, 538 So.2d 482 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1989) (holding that in a contribution action where the non-settling defendant was found 100% liable at trial, the non-settling defendant was not jointly liable with the settling defendant and the settling defendant had no right of contribution against the non-settling defendant under Section 768.31).

Justice Anstead's concurring opinion in Wells puts in perspective the limits that § 768.81 and the Wells opinion have on the application of the setoff statutes:

With the enactment of § 768.81(3), the need for, and the role of, the contribution scheme set out above has been substantially reduced. Under § 768.81(3), a judgment is to be entered against a particular tortfeasor-defendant only 'on the basis of such party's percentage of fault and not on the basis of the doctrine of joint and several liability.' Since this tortfeasor-defendant now faces a judgment based only on its 'percentage of fault,' it, unlike Disney in the Wood case, has no basis for seeking contribution from another tortfeasor who might also have contributed to the cause of the claimant's injury. Such a tortfeasor is no longer in need of or entitled to contribution, either by a claim against other tortfeasors, or by a reduction in the judgment against him in the amount of any settlements made by the claimant with other tortfeasors. Since the

'problem' of a tortfeasor paying more than his fair share has been eliminated by the enactment of Section 768.81(3), the 'solution' to the problem by the scheme of contribution and setoff is no longer needed. The underlying purpose of the contribution scheme and §§ 46.015(2), 768.31(5)(a), and 768.041(2) is simply no longer served in such a case. This is the essence of our decision today.

Wells, supra at 256. (Emphasis supplied).

While the setoff statutes can still apply to economic damages, they only apply to economic damages awarded under the three exceptions enumerated in § 768.81, none of which apply here.

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