IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN M. GOUTY,

Petitioner/Plaintiff,

vs.CASE NO.: SC00-1853 Lower Tribunal No: 1D99-1337

J. ALAN SCHNEPEL,

Respondent/Defendant.

AMENDED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE AND CERTIFICATE OF FONT

Harris Brown Florida Bar No.: 242535 BROWN, OBRINGER, BEARDSLEY & DECANDIO, P.A. 12 East Bay Street Jacksonville, FL 32202 (904)354-0624 Attorneys for Respondent Defendant

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision of the First District Court Of Appeal was correct and should be affirmed.

The First District Court of Appeal correctly interpreted Sections 46.015 (2) and 768.041(2), Florida Statutes, and the Supreme Court's ruling in Wells v. Tallahassee Memorial Medical Center, Inc., 659 So.2d 249 (Fla. 1995), in holding that a non-settling defendant is entitled to a set-off from judgment for economic damages paid by a settling co-defendant to obtain a release. The appellate court followed this Court's holding in <u>Wells</u> in ruling that Schnepel is entitled to a set-off for that portion of the jury's verdict which constituted economic damages for which both Schnepel and Glock were sued. Wells reaffirmed the applicability of the set-off statutes, Sections 46.015, 768.041, 768.31, Florida Statutes, as to the set-off for economic damages. The settling and non-settling defendants remain jointly liable for economic damages. The jury verdict determines the percentage of economic and non-economic damages and that percentage is applied to the amount paid by the settling codefendant to determine the applicable set-off for economic damages. The set-off for economic damages is available to the non-settling defendant, regardless of his percentage of liability.

However, the First District Court of Appeal erred in declining to address the merits of Schnepel's argument that Gouty was judicially estopped from contending at trial that Glock was not negligent in causing Gouty's injury. The record on appeal was fully adequate to reach the legal issue of judicial estoppel. The trial

court's pre-trial order was clear and unequivocal in ruling that estoppel was not applicable. In that the estoppel issue was not tried, there was no mechanism for Schnepel to have preserved that issue at trial. Gouty pled that Glock was liable in its manufacture and design of a defective gun and case which combined with the negligence of Defendant, Schnepel, in causing injury to Gouty. Based on these allegations, Gouty settled with Glock for \$137,500.00 and provided a release to Glock. Having clearly benefited from his prior position, specifically that Glock was liable, the trial court should not have allowed Gouty to assert a contrary position at the trial of this case to potentially obtain a windfall double recovery. Schnepel admitted liability. Accordingly, since the liability of Schnepel was not at issue and Gouty should have been estopped from denying that Glock was liable, the only issue which should have been presented to the jury was the respective percentage of liability of Schnepel and Glock. The trial court erred in allowing the jury to determine the liability of Glock, rather than merely assessing the relative percentage of liability of Glock and Schnepel. The District Court erred in failing to consider that issue and, therefore, erred in affirming the trial court's ruling as to estoppel.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CERTIFIED QUESTION SHOULD BE ANSWERED IN THE AFFIRMATIVE BECAUSE THE SET-OFF STATUTES ARE APPLICABLE TO ECONOMIC DAMAGES REGARDLESS OF WHETHER A SETTLING DEFENDANT IS FOUND LIABLE AT TRIAL.

A. THE SET-OFF STATUTES ARE NOT RESTRICTED TO CASES WHERE JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY IS DETERMINED AT TRIAL AS TO A SETTLING DEFENDANT.

In this case, the First District Court of Appeal correctly interpreted the set-off statutes to apply to settlements by codefendants alleged to be jointly liable for economic damages, even if

a settling co-defendant is not found liable at trial. Petitioners incorrectly attempt to shift the Court's focus away from the clear statutory language of the set-off statutes, contrary to this Court's holding in <u>Wells</u>.

The First District Court correctly recognized that the set-off statutes are not impaired by the Tort Reform Act. As this Court recognized in <u>Wells v. Tallahassee Memorial Regional Medical Center</u>, 659 So.2d 249 (Fla. 1995), the set-off statutes are applicable to economic damages recovered in negligence suits.

This Court, in <u>Wells</u>, begins its analysis by noting the continuing applicability of Sections 46.015, 768.041, and 768.31, Florida Statutes. <u>Wells holds</u> that these set-off statutes remain applicable as to economic damages and states the following:

The set-off provisions, which were enacted before Section 768.81, presuppose the existence of multiple defendants jointly liable for the same damages. Consequently, the set-off provisions do not apply to non-economic damages for which defendants are only severally liable...Of course, the set-off statutes do apply to economic damages for which parties continue to be subject to joint and several liability.

<u>Wells</u>, at 249.

The Court then addressed how the economic damage portions of a payment made by a settling defendant should apply as a set-off against the non-settling defendant. This Court rejected the contention that the settlement agreement between the settling defendant and plaintiff should govern the apportionment of economic and non-economic damages. The Court stated that the apportionment of economic and non-economic damages should be resolved by the jury's

determination in the suit against the non-settling defendant. <u>Wells</u> held as follows:

> A fairer solution is to have the allocation based upon the jury verdict. Thus, we hold the settlement proceeds should be divided between economic and noneconomic damages in the same proportion as the jury's award.

<u>Id.</u> at 254.

Petitioner contends in its brief that the clear language of Section 768.81(3) and the <u>holding</u> in <u>Wells</u> should be disregarded in the present case because the jury found no liability as to Glock in the trial against Schnepel. Petitioner argues that Glock, having paid \$137,500.00 based on a pleading in which Plaintiff claimed that Glock was negligent, which negligence concurred with that of Schnepel, is not a joint tortfeasor.

Respondent respectively submits that Petitioner's citation and description of portions of the <u>Wells</u> decision are misleading and incorrect. At page 10 of Petitioner's Initial Brief, Petitioner recites that portion of the opinion in which this Court stated that the set-off provisions "presuppose the existence of multiple defendants jointly liable for the same damages." However, that section of the opinion actually discusses the disposition of noneconomic damages. The entire quote is as follows:

> "Under Section 768.81(3), each defendant is solely responsible for his or her share of non-economic damages. The set-off provisions which were enacted before Section 768.81, presuppose the existence of multiple defendants jointly liable for the same damages. Consequently, the set-off provisions do not apply to non-economic damages for which defendants are only severally liable." 659 So.2d at 252-253.

On the same page of that opinion, after a discussion of the set-off statutes, the Supreme Court unequivocally holds as follows:

"Of course, the set-off statutes do apply to economic damages for which parties continue to be subject to joint and several liability."

Accordingly, the portion of the <u>Wells</u> opinion cited by Petitioner merely discusses the distinction between economic and noneconomic damages after the enactment of Section 768.81, Florida Statutes. That portion of the <u>Wells</u> decision, read in context, shows that the Court is contrasting economic damages, for which the parties remain jointly liable, with non-economic damages for which the parties are not jointly liable.

Petitioner also quotes a portion of the concurring opinion of Justice Anstead at page 13 of Petitioner's Initial Brief. Again, read in context, Justice Anstead's concurring opinion expresses concern over the difficulty of the Court in reconciling Section 768.81(3) with the preexisting set-off statutes. Justice Anstead suggests that the legislature could clarify this issue. Obviously, Justice Anstead's comments in the concurring opinion do not constitute a holding in the Wells case. See Greene v. Massey, 384 So.2d 24 (Fla. 1980); Dozier v. Wild, 659 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995). As explained above, the majority decision in <u>Wells</u> held that the set-off statutes remain applicable to economic damages and reconciled the set-off statutes with Section 768.81(3), Florida Statutes by holding that the set-off statutes were not applicable to non-economic damages for which the parties are not jointly liable.

In summary, the holding in <u>Wells</u> is clear. The set-off statutes remain applicable to economic damages. Petitioner's inaccurate quotation and interpretation of portions of the <u>Wells</u> decision demonstrates Petitioner's futile attempt to avoid the clear holding of this Court's decision.

Petitioner's actual argument is that the set-off statutes do not apply in the absence of a determination of joint liability at trial. Petitioner impliedly contends that the enactment of Section 768.81, the comparative fault statute, effectively repealed the set-off statutes. This contention clearly is unfounded. It is well-settled in Florida that courts disfavor construing a statute as repealed by implication. <u>See, e.g., Woodgate Development Corp. v. Hamilton</u> <u>Investment Trust</u>, 351 So.2d 14 (Fla. 1977); <u>Mann v. Goodyear Tire and</u> <u>Rubber Co.</u>, 300 So.2d 666 (Fla. 1974). Section 768.81(3), Florida Statutes, governs apportionment of fault as follows:

> (3) Apportionment of damages -- In cases to which this section applies, the court shall enter judgment against each party liable on the basis of such party's percentage of fault and not on the basis of the doctrine of joint and several liability; provided that with respect to any party whose percentage of fault equals or exceeds that of a particular claimant, the court shall enter judgment with respect to economic damages against that party on the basis of the doctrine of joint and several liability.

Section 768.81(3), by its express terms, does not require a finding of joint liability to apply a set-off for economic damages. Instead, the statute clearly states that set-off for economic damages shall be applied to a defendant whose percentage of liability exceeds the claimant "on the basis of joint and several liability." Accordingly, (1) the nature of the damages (economic) and (2) comparative liability of plaintiff and defendant trigger the applicability of joint and several liability; not a finding of joint liability between the settling and non-settling defendants.

By way of explanation, Petitioner seeks to rewrite §768.81(3) as follows:

(3) Apportionment of damages -- In cases to which this section applies, the court shall enter judgment against each party liable on the basis of such party's percentage of fault and not on the basis of the doctrine of joint and several liability; provided that with respect to any party whose percentage of fault equals or exceeds that of a particular claimant, the court shall enter judgment with respect to economic damages against that party on the basis of the doctrine of joint and several liability, <u>if that party is determined</u> to be jointly and severally liable with some <u>other party</u>.

Obviously, the additional condition of a finding of joint and several liability was not contemplated by the legislature in enacting §768.81(3). Instead, the legislature clearly asserted that if a defendant is found to have a higher percentage of fault than a claimant, economic damages will necessarily be determined "on the basis of the doctrine of joint and several liability."

The First District Court correctly rejected the argument that §768.81(3) expressly or impliedly repealed the set-off statutes. The set-off statutes are effective as to all settlements. In pertinent part, Sections 46.015, 768.041, and 768.31 [hereafter referred to as the "set-off statutes"], state the following:

46.015. Release of parties

(1) A written covenant not to sue or release of a person who is or may be jointly and severally liable with other persons for a claim shall not release or discharge the liability for the balance of such claim.

(2) At trial, if any person shows the court that the plaintiff, or his or her legal representative, has delivered a written release or covenant not to sue to any person in partial satisfaction of the damages sued for, the court shall set-off this amount from the amount of any judgment to which the plaintiff would be otherwise entitled at the time of rendering judgment.

768.041 Release or covenant not to sue

(1) A release or covenant not to sue as to one (1) tortfeasor for property damage to, personal injury of, or the wrongful death of any person shall not operate to release or discharge the liability of any other tortfeasor who may be liable for the same tort or death.

(2) At trial, if any defendant shows the court that the plaintiff, or any person lawfully on her or his behalf, has delivered a release or covenant not to sue to any person, firm, or corporation in partial satisfaction of the damages sued for, the court shall set-off this amount of any judgment to which the plaintiff would be otherwise entitled at the time of rendering judgment and enter judgment accordingly.

(3) The fact of such release or covenant not to sue, or that any defendant has been dismissed by order of the court shall not be made known to the jury.

768.31 Contribution among tortfeasors

(1) Short title.--This act shall be cited as the "Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act."

• • • • • •

(5) Release or covenant not to sue.--When a release or a covenant not to sue or not to enforce judgment is given in good faith to one of two or more persons liable in tort for the same injury or the same wrongful death:

(a) It does not discharge any of the other tortfeasors from liability for the injury or wrongful death unless its terms so provide, but it reduces the claim against the others to the extent of any amount stipulated by the release or the covenant, or in the amount of the consideration paid for it, whichever is the greater; and, (b) It discharges the tortfeasor to whom it is given from all liability for contribution to any other tortfeasor.

By their terms, these set-off statutes apply when one of two or more defendants settle with a plaintiff and obtain a release or satisfaction of the damages sued upon. That is the exact situation which exists in this case, and the set-off statutes govern the settlement between Glock and Gouty.

Prior to the Tort Reform Act, Florida cases uniformly held that all amounts paid by a settling party should be set-off against any amount assessed against a remaining defendant. This was true because the settling and non-settling parties were jointly and severally liable for damages recovered by the plaintiff, even though the liability of the settling defendant had not been judicially resolved, but had been concluded through settlement and execution of a release. <u>City of Jacksonville v. Outlaw</u>, 538 So.2d 1360 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989); and <u>Lauth v. Olsten Home Health Care, Inc.</u>, 678 So.2d 447 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996).

The set-off statutes were held to provide a set-off for the remaining non-settling defendant, regardless of the merit of the liability claim against the settling defendant. The existence of a release is conclusive as to the applicability of a set-off for damages for which the settling and non-settling parties could have been jointly and severally liable.

For example, in <u>Outlaw</u>, the settling co-defendant was the adjoining property owner to a damaged sidewalk. The plaintiff was injured while walking on the sidewalk. Although the Court noted that an adjoining landowner is not generally liable for the condition of a sidewalk, the Court noted that it was possible that the property

owner could be liable if he "damaged the sidewalk or committed other acts that rendered him jointly liable to the plaintiff." <u>Outlaw</u>, 538 So.2d at 1361. This Court held that the existence of the release and settlement was conclusive as to the liability of the settling defendant and applicability of the set-off. In <u>Lauth</u>, a full set-off was applied as to the amount paid by a settling co-defendant, even though the jury verdict found no liability as to the settling codefendant. Accordingly, <u>Lauth</u> is directly analogous to the present case, confirming that the liability of a settling co-defendant is conclusively determined by the settlement and release as to damages for which a settling and non-settling defendants are jointly liable.

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